
MORGAN COUNTY COMMISSION 

A G E N D A  

June 01, 2021 

10:00 AM 

150 East Washington Street, Madison, GA 

2nd Floor Board Room 
 

 

 

Pledge and Invocation 
  

Agenda Approval 
  

Minutes 
1. May 20, 2021 BOC Meeting 

  

Consent Agenda 
2. Motion to accept as information the May 2021 payables to include General Fund in the amount of 

$1,130,652.04, TSPLOST in the amount of $142,055.82, SPLOST in the amount of $311,977.77, 

General Fund electronic payments in the amount of $122,025.13 and the May 2021 financials. 

  

Time Certain 
 

11:00 AM Planning Commission 
  

Planning Commission New Business 
3. Redeemer Church of Madison is requesting conditional use approval to operate a Childcare 

Learning Center on 7 acres located at 1890 Bethany Road (Tax Parcel 045-024D). 

 

4. Morgan County Planning & Development is requesting a text amendment to Article 7 of 

the Morgan County Zoning Ordinance related to recreational vehicles. 

  

New Business 
5. Tennis Court Rehabilitation Change Order 

6. DFACS - Lease Renewal Letter of Intent  

7. County Manager Report 

8. Public Comments on Agenda Items 

  

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
9. Potential Litigation 

- 1 -



May 20, 2021 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 

THE HONORABLE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, MADISON, GEORGIA, 

MET THIS DAY IN REGULAR SESSION. 

 
MEETING WAS HELD ON THE SECOND FLOOR OF THE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING. 

 

PRESENT: Chairman Philipp von Hanstein, Vice-Chair Ben Riden, Jr., Commissioners Bill 

Kurtz, and Donald Harris. 

STAFF: County Manager Adam Mestres, County Attorney Christian Henry, Procurement 

Director Mark Williams, and County Clerk Leslie Brandt. 

 

ABSENT: Commissioner Andy A. Ainslie, Jr. 

 

 

The meeting was called to order at 5:00 p.m., followed by the Pledge of Allegiance and 

Invocation. 
 

AGENDA APPROVAL 

 

Motion by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve agenda as 

presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

FY2022 BUDGET PRESENTATION 

County Manager, Adam Mestres presented the FY2022 proposed budget. 

 

MINUTES 
May 04, 2021 BOC Meeting 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve the minutes 

as presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

2021-RES-013 REVENUE BOND AUTHORIZATION FOR DEVELOPMENT AUTH. 

This is a resolution to approve the issuance of a revenue bond by the Development Authority of 

Morgan County for the benefit of the Georgia Sheriffs Youth Homes Foundation, Inc., a Georgia 

nonprofit corporation.  The Bond will be used to construct, furnish, and equip an approximately 

22,000 square foot building that will serve as the state headquarters for the Foundation, Georgia 

Sheriffs Youth Homes, Inc. Georgia Sheriffs Association, Inc., and the Sheriff’s Retirement Fund 

of Georgia and pay the costs of issuing the Bond.  The Bond will not constitute an indebtedness 

or obligation of the County and will be payable solely from the revenues derived from the 

Foundation.  The building will be located at 1740 Lions Club Road, Madison. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Kurtz, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve resolution 

#2021-RES-013 for the issuance of a revenue bond by the Development Authority of Morgan 

County for the benefit of the GA Sheriffs Youth Homes Foundation.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

AG BOARD VACANCY 

The term of Suzanne Cottongim and Carol Williams will expire June 30, 2021.  Both members 

submitted applications to be considered for reappointment.  No other applications were received.   

 

MOTION by Commissioner Harris, Seconded by Commissioner Kurtz to reappoint Suzanne 

Cottongim and Carol Williams to the Ag Board with term beginning July 1, 2021, and ending 

June 30, 2024.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

TAX ASSESSOR BOARD VACANCY 

There is a vacant unexpired term on the Tax Assessors Board.  One application was received 

from Chris Sides for consideration. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner Kurtz to appoint Chris Sides to 

the Tax Assessors Board to complete the unexpired vacant term with term ending December 31, 

2021.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

LIBRARY BOARD VACANCY 

- 2 -



May 20, 2021 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

There is a vacant unexpired term on the Library Board.  One application was received from 

Madalyn Atkinson for consideration. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Harris, Seconded by Commissioner Riden to appoint Madalyn 

Atkinson to the Library Board to complete the unexpired vacant term with term ending June 30, 

2023.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

IGA- COLLECTION OF AD VALOREM TAXES - CITY OF MADISON 

This Intergovernmental Agreement must be adopted every four years by the Tax Commissioner, 

County and any Municipality that wishes for the Tax Commissioner to collect municipal taxes 

on the behalf of the municipality. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve the IGA as 

presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

IGA- COLLECTION OF AD VALOREM TAXES - CITY OF RUTLEDGE 

This Intergovernmental Agreement must be adopted every four years by the Tax Commissioner, 

County and any Municipality that wishes for the Tax Commissioner to collect municipal taxes 

on the behalf of the municipality. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner Kurtz to approve the IGA as 

presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

IGA- COLLECTION OF AD VALOREM TAXES - TOWN OF BUCKHEAD 

This Intergovernmental Agreement must be adopted every four years by the Tax Commissioner, 

County and any Municipality that wishes for the Tax Commissioner to collect municipal taxes 

on the behalf of the municipality. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Kurtz, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve the IGA as 

presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

IGA- COLLECTION OF AD VALOREM TAXES - CITY OF BOSTWICK 

This Intergovernmental Agreement must be adopted every four years by the Tax Commissioner, 

County and any Municipality that wishes for the Tax Commissioner to collect municipal taxes 

on the behalf of the municipality. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve the IGA as 

presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

CONCRETE FOR NEWBORN ROAD SITE 

Bids were obtained to pour a 6" thick 35'x90' concrete pad at the Newborn Road Compactor Site. 

The pad is needed to set the open top containers on. The size of the pad will give us the option 

to add more containers in the future. The lowest bid is from G.A.C. Construction for $11,765. 

The bids obtained do not include the concrete. The County will purchase concrete directly from 

Fowler Flemister. The cost for the concrete is $8,640. Staff recommends project be awarded to 

G.A.C. Construction for $11,765. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner Kurtz to approve the purchase 

of concrete from Fowler Flemister for $8,640 and to award the project to G.A.C. for grading, 

forming and labor not to exceed $11,765.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

PURCHASE OF VEHICLES FOR SHERIFF'S OFFICE 

The Sheriff’s Office was approved to purchase 9 vehicles in FY21 from SPLOST. The vehicles 

were ordered on November 6, 2020.  Due to supply issues for parts, the vehicles are not scheduled 

to be built until August 2021.  With approval of the Chairman, 3 vehicles were purchased from 

dealer stock: 2021 Chevrolet Tahoe for $36,755 (state contract price), 2021 Dodge Durango for 

$31,163, and 2021 Chrysler 300 for $28,516.  Bids were obtained for the Dodge Durango and 

Chrysler 300. The total for all three vehicles is $96,434. The vehicles were paid from SPLOST 

and the FY22 allotment of vehicles for the Sheriff’s Office will be reduced by 3. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Harris, Seconded by Commissioner Kurtz to ratify the purchase of 

three vehicles for the Sheriff’s Office for $96,434.  Unanimously Approved. 

- 3 -



May 20, 2021 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 

PURCHASE OF DUMP TRAILER 

Public Works has requested a dump trailer to aid in removal of debris and transport equipment 

and material to job sites. A dump trailer was part of a multi-equipment purchase last month, 

however that dump trailer is too large to be effectively used. Bids were obtained from three 

vendors. Staff recommends purchasing a dump trailer from Kauffman for $ 11,714. Staff also 

recommends the 2004 Eagle Rock dump trailer, VIN: 1E9DM39239T816922, be declared 

surplus and sold. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Harris, Seconded by Commissioner Riden to purchase a dump 

trailer from Kauffman for $11,714 and to surplus the 2004 Eagle Rock dump 

trailer.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

COMMISSIONER LIAISON REPORTS 

Commissioners gave updates on Liaison assignments. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON AGENDA ITEMS 

No public comments were made. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Riden, seconded by Commissioner Harris to exit regular session 

and adjourn at 5:52 p.m.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Philipp von Hanstein, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Leslie Brandt, County Clerk        

- 4 -



- 5 -



- 6 -



- 7 -



- 8 -



- 9 -



- 10 -



- 11 -



- 12 -



- 13 -



- 14 -



- 15 -



- 16 -



- 17 -



- 18 -



 
 

1 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

           

   Staff Report 

    Morgan County Planning Commission 

  

Property location: 1890 Bethany Road    

Property tax parcel: 045-024D  

Acreage: 7 acres  

Applicant: Redeemer Church Academy 

Applicant’s Agent:    

Property Owner: Redeemer Church of Madison 

Existing Use: Church 

Proposed Use: Church and Childcare Learning Center  

 

Summary 

Redeemer 

Church of 

Madison is 

requesting 

conditional use 

approval to 

operate a 

Childcare 

Learning 

Center, to be 

named 

Redeemer 

Church 

Academy, on 7 

acres located 

within the 

church at 1890 

Bethany Road. 

Planning & 

Development 

understands 

that the 

childcare center 

is already 

operating.  

Petition for:  Conditional Use – Childcare Learning Center 

        

- 19 -



 
 

2 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

 

Childcare facilities require zoning permission before the State will issue an approval. For that reason, the 

ordinance provides language that works with a childcare learning center until approval is obtained from 

the State.  

A Childcare Learning Center is defined, per Article 3 of the Morgan County Zoning Ordinance: Any place 

operated by a person, society, agency, corporation, institution or group wherein are received for pay for 

group care, for fewer than 24 hours per day without transfer of legal custody, 19 or more children under 

18 years of age and which is required to be licensed. The applicant’s letter indicates they intend to 

obtain state approval for 18 children or less.  

Childcare Learning Centers are what we typically know as a daycare, where children are dropped off in 

the morning and picked up in the evening. Local examples are Daystar and Lemontree. 

From the Morgan County Zoning Ordinance: 

 

 
 

- 20 -



 
 

3 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

 
 

Excerpts from Previous Hearings  

        
 
From the September 27, 2018 Planning Commission meeting: 
 
       II.        Redeemer Church of Madison is requesting conditional use approval to 
                  operate a childcare learning center on 7 acres located at 1890 Bethany 
                  Road (Tax Parcel 045-024D). 
 
Mr. Jarrell presented the staff report and explained how zoning approval is required before the state will 
issue an approval for a childcare business. He described the number of children proposed and noted 
that no structural changes or sprinkler system would be needed for the first phase of the project. The 
Planning Commission expressed concern regarding the intersection of Bethany Road and the Highway 
441 by-pass. Mr. Jarrell informed the members of discussions held the week before with DOT and the 
City of Madison related to the identified intersection. Planning Commission members asked about the 
existing kitchen and when a sprinkler system would be needed.  
 
John Darcy, Pastor, explained the childcare goals of the church and introduced Marie Singleton from 
KiddyLand, who would be working with the church. He also introduced other members of the church 
staff in attendance. The Planning Commission asked about the intersection and officers hired by the 
church to direct traffic on Sundays. Pastor Darcy explained that the church is seeking an agreement with 
DOT that would allow another entrance to the church property, but he does not believe that the 

AR 

R1 

C2 

City 

Zoning Map 

- 21 -



 
 

4 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

introductory number of children will cause issues with pick up/drop off times. He confirmed that the 
septic tank is adequate for the increased use. 
 
No one spoke in favor of, or in opposition to, the application. 
 
The Chairman closed public comment. 
 
The Planning Commission mentioned the need for additional childcare options in the county and 
expressed approbation that the church was working with KiddyLand and seeking to increase safety at 
the intersection. 
 
Motion:  Ms. Craft made a motion to recommend approval of the conditional use application to operate 
a childcare learning center at 1890 Bethany Road. 
Second:  Ms. Dartnell 
Vote:  6:0 The vote to recommend approval of the conditional use for a childcare learning center was 
unanimous. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 22 -



 
 

5 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

 
From the October 2, 2018 Board of Commissioners meeting: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 23 -



 
 

6 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

Criteria for Consideration  

        
Section 21.3.1 Required Findings from Conditional Use Approval from the Morgan County Zoning 

Ordinance: 

1. Adequate provision is made by the applicant to reduce any adverse environmental impacts of 

the proposed use to an acceptable level; 

2. Vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent streets will not be substantially hindered 

or endangered; 

3. Off-street parking and loading, and the entrance to and exit from such parking and loading, will 

be adequate in terms of location, amount and design to service the use; 

4. Public facilities and utilities are capable of adequately serving the proposed use; 

5. Granting the request would not be an illogical extension of a use which would introduce  

damaging volumes of (1) agricultural, (2) commercial, (3) industrial, or (4) high density 

apartment use into a stable neighborhood of well-maintained single family homes, and likely 

lead to decreasing surrounding property values, neighborhood deterioration, spreading of 

blight, and additional requests of a similar nature which would expand the problem; 

6. Granting the request would not lead to congestion, noise and traffic hazards or overload public 

facilities, current or planned; 

7. Granting the request would conform to the general expectation for the area population growth 

and distribution according to the Comprehensive Land Use Plan; 

8. Granting the request would not lead to a major negative change in existing (1) levels of public 

service, (2) government employees or (3) fiscal stability; 

9. Granting the request would not have a “domino effect,” in that it becomes the opening wedge 

for further rapid growth, urbanization or other land-use change beyond what is indicated in the 

Comprehensive Land Use Plan. 

 

Staff Comments 

        
Although the church was approved in 2018, conditional use approval is only valid for 12 months if the 

approved use has not been started. The church has been operating the daycare for several months and 

was flagged for additional conditional use approval when they requested a zoning letter to send to the 

state for licensing. The church has added a playground area, which can be seen in the first aerial in this 

staff report. Please see the attached plans, which are copies of information sent to the state for 

approval.  

 

 

 

 

- 24 -



- 25 -



- 26 -



- 27 -



- 28 -



- 29 -



- 30 -



1 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

           

   Staff Report 

    Morgan County Planning Commission 

  

Applicant: Morgan County Planning & Development 

Applicant’s Agent: N/A  

Zoning Ordinance: Morgan County Zoning Ordinance Chapter 7.43 Individual Recreational Vehicles  

                      

Summary 

        
Morgan County Planning & Development is proposing to add Chapter 7.43 to the Morgan County Zoning 

Ordinance to address ongoing issues with recreational vehicles. Planning Staff has seen an increase in 

individual RVs used as single-family dwellings in the last year. While RVs have been used as residences 

for years, the recent housing boom and quick house sales are encouraging the use.  

Typically, Staff is encountering one of the following scenarios, in order of most prevalent: 

1. The prospective RV resident says they have to live in their RV on their property because their 
house sold too quickly.  

2. The prospective RV resident wants to live in their RV while they are building their house.  
3. “Can I just store my RV on my vacant property? And can I also get power and an address? I 

promise I won’t live there.” 
4. The prospective RV resident says they have to live in their RV on their property because they 

need their money to build their new house. 
5. The prospective RV resident says they have to live in their RV on a friend’s/family member’s 

property because they can’t find land in Morgan County and they need to get their kid(s) into 
the school system. 

6. The property owners request an RV so that an ailing family member can stay beside them or so 
a family member can be nearby to assist them.  
 

Notice that the request due to sick relatives, which used to be the primary reason for RV residence 

requests, is the least used reason now. The main reasons now revolve around poor planning related to 

land purchases or house sales. None of the above situations prevent the RV owner from renting a 

residence. And every time we have been asked if an RV could be kept on vacant property or property 

with just a barn or shop, the RV has become a residence, despite promises to the contrary.  

The only language currently in the Zoning Ordinance to address individual RVs is in the Chapter for 

Recreational Vehicle Parks: 

 

 

Petition for:  Text Amendment 

        

- 31 -



2 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

Section 7.18.15  Recreational Vehicles on Private Lots 

 

Individual recreational vehicles occupied temporarily by a guest of the owner or tenant of the property 

on which the recreational vehicle is located, shall be allowed, not to exceed 15 consecutive calendar 

days in any 60 day period. No recreational vehicle shall be used as a permanent residence on any private 

lot. 

 

The main issue with this language is the use of the word consecutive. Savvy RV owners determined that 

they could stay 15 days, leave one day, and then come back. If the new language is approved, this 

language will need to be removed to prevent contradiction. 

 

Current and Proposed Language 

Chapter 7.43   Individual Recreational Vehicles 

Section 7.43.1  Purpose and Intent 

The purpose of this Chapter to detail Morgan County’s individual recreation vehicle regulations, which 

are separate from regulations described in this Ordinance for Recreational Vehicle Parks. It is Morgan 

County’s policy that individual recreational vehicles shall not be considered equivalent to, not be 

permitted as, permanent residential structures.  

Section 7.43.2  Prohibitions 

Individual recreation vehicles are not permitted as permanent residences in any zoning district. No 

recreational vehicle may be connected to a well, septic tank or to an electrical power pole, temporary or 

otherwise. Waste from recreational vehicles may not be buried or disposed of on the ground. Except for 

the purpose and time frame provided for in Section 7.43.4, no electrical cords or generators may be 

used to provide power to any recreational vehicle, nor may any water line be connected. In addition to 

the presence of water, septic or electrical connections, the following factors may constitute acts to be 

considered indicative of residential use:  1. Evidence of persons entering or exiting the vehicle; 2. 

Illumination of the vehicle; 3. Accessory structures about the vehicle; 4. Window masking; 5. Expanded 

bays “popped out.” 

Section 7.43.3  Storage of Recreational Vehicles 

No recreational vehicle may be stored on property that does not contain a residence. No more than one 

recreational vehicle may be stored on property in any zoning district, unless approved as a Recreational 

Vehicle Park or Campground. Recreational vehicles shall not be parked in the front yard. 

Section 7.43.4  Recreational Vehicles as Temporary Guest Housing 

Recreational vehicles may be used as temporary guest housing in zoning districts where single family 

dwellings are permitted. Recreational vehicles that are owned by non-Morgan County residents, guests 

or visitors and are registered and tagged from outside the county may be parked or occupied by guests 

- 32 -



3 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

or visitors on property on which a permanent occupied dwelling is located for a total cumulative period 

not to exceed 30 days per calendar year while visiting the resident of such property. This cumulative 

total period may include visits by a single guest or multiple guests over the period, but no more than 

one recreational vehicle at a time. Such recreational vehicles may not be parked on a street, sidewalk or 

right-of-way.  

Staff Comments 

        
Staff’s goal in presenting the language is to create enforceable methods of preventing RV residential 

occupation while still allowing for guests to visit in RVs.   

- 33 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 1 of 22 

 

5/11/2021 

 

Mr. Adam Mestres 

County Manager 

Morgan County Board of Commissioners 

150 E. Washington St. 

P.O. Box 168 

Madison, GA 30650 

706-342-0725 

amestres@morgancountyga.gov 

 

 

RE:  Letter of Intent - Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services 

Lease # 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 100, Madison, GA 30752  

 

Dear Mr. Mestres: 

 

Thank you for your efforts to date in proposing and providing information to State Properties Commission 

(“Tenant”) and the Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services 

(“Occupying Agency”) regarding the potential lease of the space at the above referenced address.  Please review 

the following terms and conditions and fill in all required information.  Once fully executed, this letter will signal 

agreement to terms and conditions for a new lease agreement.  This is a non-binding offer.  We request your 

response within ten (10) business days of the date of this letter.  

PROPOSED PREMISES INFORMATION 

LANDLORD LEGAL 

NAME AND NOTICE 

ADDRESS: 

Morgan County Board of Commissioners 

Attn.: County Manager 

150 E. Washington St., Madison, GA 30650  

 

LANDLORD RENT: 150 E. Washington St., P.O. Box 168, Madison, GA 30650 

 

PREMISES /  

BUILDING 

ADDRESS: 

 

2005 South Main Street, Suite 100, Madison, GA 30752  

PREMISES: The Premises comprises: 

7,341 Rentable Square Feet (“RSF”) in a Multi Tenant building; and is further described 

in the Floor Plan attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

 

- 34 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 2 of 22 

RENTAL RATE: The following Rental Rate schedule outlines the Full Service Gross rate that the 

Landlord is proposing to Tenant for the Term.   

 

 

 

FISCAL 

YEAR 
PERIOD 

MONTHLY 

RENT 

ANNUAL 

RENT 

ABATED 

RENT 

2022 7/1/21 – 6/30/22 $3,590.97 $43,091.64 $0.00 

RENEWAL 

OPTIONS: 

 

Eight (8), one-year Renewal Option(s) 

 

RENEWAL OPTION 

RENTAL RATE: 

 

FISCAL 

YEAR 
PERIOD 

MONTHLY 

RENT 

ANNUAL 

RENT 

ABATED 

RENT 

2023 7/1/22 – 6/30/23 $3,590.97 $43,091.64 $0.00 

2024 7/1/23 – 6/30/24 $3,590.97 $43,091.64 $0.00 

2025 7/1/24 – 6/30/25 $3,590.97 $43,091.64 $0.00 

2026 7/1/25 – 6/30/26 $3,590.97 $43,091.64 $0.00 

2027 7/1/26 – 6/30/27 $3,590.97 $43,091.64 $0.00 

2028 7/1/27 – 6/30/28 $3,590.97 $43,091.64 $0.00 

2029 7/1/28 - 6/30/29 $3,590.97 $43,091.64 $0.00 

2030 7/1/29 - 6/30/30 $3,590.97 $43,091.64 $0.00 

 

 

OPERATING 

EXPENSES:  

Landlord shall be responsible for all building and property operating expenses for the 

Term including any renewals.  

 

UTILITIES: With the sole exception of telephone and data/internet, Landlord shall furnish and pay 

for electricity, gas, water, sewer, and any other utility used by Tenant while occupying 

the Premises. 

 

JANITORIAL: Landlord shall pay for and be responsible for all janitorial services and supplies for 

general cleaning of the Premises, including restrooms within the Premises.  

 

PARKING: Tenant’s parking allocation shall not be less than Five (5) spaces per 1,000 RSF of the 

Premises (Thirty-Eight (38) parking spaces) located on the Land containing the 

Premises.  All parking spaces shall be free of charge throughout the Term and any 

Renewal Term(s). 

 

 

OTHER BUSINESS TERMS 

 

OBLIGATION TO 

REPAIR & 

MAINTAIN: 

Landlord will be responsible for all building and property operations, interior and 

exterior repairs, and maintenance of the Premises at no additional charge to Tenant. 

 

- 35 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 3 of 22 

SIGNAGE RIGHTS: Within one hundred twenty (120) days of the execution of a lease agreement, Tenant or 

Occupying Agency (or Agencies), at Landlord’s sole cost and expense, shall be 

permitted to replace Occupying Agency’s (or Agencies’) signage graphics where such 

are extant in, on, and around the Building and Premises, as necessary in order to bring 

such into compliance with the standards set forth in Department of Human Services 

Facilities Signage Guide, attached hereto and incorporate herein as Exhibit B.   

 

AT-WILL PERIOD: Landlord and Tenant will acknowledge and agree that during the time period from 

6/30/2016 through the Commencement Date of the proposed lease agreement (the “At-

Will Period”): 

 

(A) Tenant’s Subtenant or the state entity occupying the Premises (the “Occupying 

Agency”) will have continually occupied the Premises. 

 

(B) The Occupying Agency will have continued to pay rent to Landlord for the 

Premises. 

 

(C) Landlord will have continued to accept rent from the Occupying Agency.  

 

No additional amounts will be due from Tenant and/or the Occupying Agency to 

Landlord for obligations accruing during the At-Will Period. 

 

 

TENANT IMPROVEMENTS 

 

TENANT 

IMPROVEMENTS & 

LANDLORD 

CONSTRUCTION: 

Within one hundred eighty (180) days of the execution of a lease agreement, Landlord 

agrees to complete the following modifications to the Premises (hereinafter, the 

“Tenant Improvements”) at Landlord’s sole cost and expense in a good and 

workmanlike manner by duly licensed, bonded, and insured contractors in compliance 

with all applicable ordinances, orders, rules, regulations, and requirements of all federal, 

state, and municipal governments and the appropriate departments, boards, and offices 

thereof, at a time or times that will not unreasonably interfere with Tenant’s or 

Occupying Agency’s business activities.  All such Tenant Improvements, where 

applicable, will be completed in accordance with, and render, where reasonable, the 

Premises in material compliance with, State Properties Commission - Construction 

Standards for Leased Properties, attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit D.  

Landlord shall also be responsible for obtaining all of the required building permits and 

other governmental authorizations (if any) for the completion of the Tenant 

Improvements at Landlord’s sole cost and expense.  Where applicable, the Occupying 

Agency will be responsible for disconnecting and reconnecting all computers and 

appliances, and Landlord will move Occupying Agency’s furniture and replace same 

when Tenant Improvements are complete at Landlord’s sole cost and expense.   

 

(A) Steam clean all carpets within the Premises to a “like new” appearance. 

 

(B) Repair or replace any stained, damaged, or missing tile flooring and/or 

molding with new tiles and/or molding to match those existing within the 

Premises. 

- 36 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 4 of 22 

 

(C) Strip and wax or appropriately refinish all exposed flooring within the 

Premises to a “like new” appearance. 

 

(D) Repair or replace any stained or damaged ceiling tiles with new ceiling tiles 

to match those existing within the Premises. 

 

(E) Fill any surface depressions and apply touch-up paint where reasonably 

necessary to render the painted interior surfaces of the leased Premises, 

including doors and door frames, to a “like new” appearance. 

 

(F) Repair or replace any stained or damaged lighting fixtures and fixture covers 

with new fixtures to match those existing within the Premises. 

 

(G) Carpet the large “Conference Room” of the Premises, as so designated in the 

Floor Plan attached hereto as Exhibit A, with carpet selected by the Tenant 

or Occupying Agency from a finish board of qualified samples provided by 

Landlord at Landlord’s sole cost and expense. 

 

(i) Provide Tenant a finish board to pick flooring selections. 

 

(ii) Provide direct-glue carpet installation with no pad throughout the space.  

Provide floor prep and/or leveling as required.  Carpet to be commercial 

grade, level loop, 26-ounce carpet.  Carpet shall have permanent stain 

resistant properties that cannot be removed by commercial cleanings or 

abrasive wear.  See Note 14 under “Base Building Requirements” of 

State Properties Commission - Construction Standards for Leased 

Properties, attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit D.   

 

(iii) Provide continuous roll 4” high rubber base with pre-formed corners 

throughout.  Provide straight base at carpet and coved base at VCT. 

 

(H) Rebalance the HVAC system(s) servicing the Premises. 

 

(I) Clean all ductwork within the Premises. 

 

Landlord and Landlord’s management company both agree that they will not charge 

Tenant a construction management fee. 

 

 

OTHER LEGAL TERMS 

 

CONTINGENCY: The terms of any real estate transaction for the Premises shall be subject to final 

approval and full execution of the lease by both Landlord and Tenant.  

 

- 37 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 5 of 22 

OTHER KEY 

TERMS: 

 

 

If the foregoing offer is acceptable to Landlord and Landlord agrees to undertake good faith negotiations with 

Tenant in order to finalize a Lease Document embodying the terms set forth above, please execute this letter where 

indicated below and return a copy to our office (via email) by the time and date referenced in the opening paragraph.  

If you have any questions or would like to discuss, please contact me directly.   

 

 

 

Robert C. “Rob” Hill, III 

Leasing Specialist  

State Properties Commission of Georgia  

270 Washington Street, SW 

Suite 2-129 

Atlanta, Georgia 30334 

Office: (404) 463-1728 

Mobile: (404) 973-9699 

Email:  rob.hill@spc.ga.gov 

 

cc:  

  

 

 

 

The remainder of this page intentionally left blank 

 

  

- 38 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 6 of 22 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED THIS ____ DAY OF ___________________, 2021. 

 

Landlord: Morgan County Board of Commissioners 

 

By: __________________________________  

 

Name: ________________________________ 

                    (print name) 

Its: __________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

- 39 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 7 of 22 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED THIS ____ DAY OF ___________________, 2021. 

 

Occupying Agency:  Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services  

 

By: __________________________________  

 

Name: Robyn A. Crittenden 

Its: Commissioner 

 

By signing, the Occupying Agency approves this Letter of Intent as to content including monetary 

obligations that will be incurred by the Occupying Agency subsequent to the execution of the lease by the 

State Properties Commission and the Landlord, and upon assignment of the Premises to such Occupying 

Agency by the State Properties Commission. 

 

  

- 40 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 8 of 22 

Exhibit A 

Floor Plan 

(Not to Scale) 

 
 

  

- 41 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 9 of 22 

Exhibit B   

Department of Human Services Facilities Signage Guide 

 
 

  

- 42 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 10 of 22 

 
 

 

  

- 43 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 11 of 22 

 
 

  

- 44 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 12 of 22 

 
 

  

- 45 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 13 of 22 

 
 

  

- 46 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 14 of 22 

 
 

  

- 47 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 15 of 22 

Exhibit C   

State Properties Commission - Construction Standards for Leased Properties  

State Properties Commission 

Construction Standards for Leased Properties 

Project: 5453 DHS-DFCS (Madison) [Morgan County] 

Location: 2005 South Main Street, Suite 100, Madison, GA 30752 

NOTE:  These Notes should be reviewed by the Designer for each individual project and modified to meet 

specific requirements as required.   

Note-1:  This document is intended to be a general guideline for in order to establish construction pricing 

and an accurate construction budget.  The State has not thoroughly inspected the space nor conducted a 

comprehensive survey of existing conditions.  The Landlord’s General Contractor shall provide adequate 

pricing to include restoration of general conditions and finishes as required to provide a move-in ready 

Tenant space.   

 

Note-2:  The Landlord’s General Contractor shall visit the site prior to submitting pricing.  General 

Contractor to notify the SPC of any discrepancy between drawings and actual job conditions prior to 

submitting a bid. 

 

Note-3: The General Contractor is responsible for filing the project for permit, all local permit fees as well 

as retaining an expeditor to file the drawings.  These costs are to be included in the General Contractor’s 

pricing. 

 

Note-4:  See additional supplemental notes for items specific to the Tenant locating to the space. 

 

Note-5:  Landlord shall be responsible for compliance with all applicable permitting, zoning ordinances, 

and requirements; local and state building codes; life safety codes; the current Americans with Disabilities 

Act-Titles II & III and the design guidelines (ADAAG) and the securing of a certificate of occupancy in 

the construction of the Building. 

Base Building Requirements 

NOTE:  These items are to be affirmed by the Landlord as complete and fulfilled.  If any items are lacking 

or not in place, they are to be priced separately and included as Landlord costs.   

1. The roof must be new or less than 5 years old.  If not, an explanation will be required in writing of measures 

in place to ensure that the roof will be properly maintained over the course of the lease. 

2. The Building shell must be appointed and maintained to a “like new” condition.  Noticeable cracks, damage, 

rot, mold, or peeling paint are not acceptable and must be remedied.   

3. The structure is to be free of all hazardous materials or substances including asbestos, mold, mildew, and lead 

paint.  Any measures needed to abate hazardous substances are to be Landlord costs. 

4. There must be adequate handicap parking with striping and signage to comply with the Americans with 

Disabilities Act (ADA). 

5. There must be an accessible path from parking into the space with no obstructions greater than ½” and in full 

compliance with ADA requirements.  

6. The Building must ensure adequate drainage from the parking and site. 

7. Building landscaping must be well maintained with a maintenance program in place. 

8. Any water leakage or damage to the space is to be corrected and the source remedied.   

- 48 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 16 of 22 

9. Any requirements for fire protection of structural elements of the Building should be in space including rated 

column or vertical penetration enclosures, spray-on fire proofing, etc.   

10. The structure shall have sufficient insulation to meet current energy codes.  If not, any upgrades to existing 

energy and insulation values are to be at Landlord’s expense.  Existing insulation batts on lay-in ceilings are not 

acceptable to include toward overall energy calculations.   

11. Exterior doors are to be, fully functional with push bar or lever hardware and locksets.  Aluminum and glass 

doors are acceptable provided that they are fully functional with push bar or lever hardware and locksets.  

Exterior doors are to have closers as well as full weather-stripping and aluminum threshold.  Doors are to open 

in the direction of egress.   

12. Ceiling tile and grid are to be in place through at least 90% of the space.  Ceiling tile and grid is to be 2’x4’ 

or 2’x2’ set in standard 15”/16” grid.  Existing ceiling tiles are to be free of breakage, chips, marks, and water 

marks.  All ceiling tile shall be lay-in acoustic tile.  Ceiling grid is to be complete.  Replace any damaged or 

missing pieces.  Any work to complete ceilings, repair grid, or replace tiles is to be at Landlord cost.   

13. Domestic water and sanitary lines are to be in place for tie-in by the Tenant. 

14. The floor slab is to be level to within 1”/12 ft. and in adequate condition for specified flooring installation 

with minimal leveling or floor preparation.   

15. All exterior windows are to have fully functional and damage-free window blinds in place.  Any damage or 

missing blinds are to be replaced to match existing.   

Demolition 

1. Provide demolition to the extent required to achieve new layout as shown.  General Contractor is responsible 

for the proper protection of all existing items to remain.  The General Contractor is to repair and/or replace any 

damage to existing items to remain or to surrounding areas as required.  

2. General Contractor to remove and cap all utilities to site source.  Remove all abandoned cables, wires and 

pipes in ceiling plenum to their source.  Remove all abandoned telephone equipment.  Remove any speakers, 

visual aid fixtures and control devices unless otherwise indicated or located on Building core.  Any removal of 

such equipment shall be done in such a way as to allow the operations of adjacent floors or Tenants to continue 

without interruption of services. 

3. Demolition work that creates disturbing noise must be coordinated and scheduled with the Building 

Owner/Management and performed during off-hours as required.  Any overtime costs for these items are to be 

borne by the General Contractor. 

4. General Contractor to remove all abandoned tel./data and electrical devices in partitions to remain that are not 

shown for reuse on the drawings.  Patch and repair partition surfaces as required so that no visible aspects of the 

device remain. 

5. General Contractor is to raise and protect blinds as required during demolition and new construction.  All 

blinds are to be cleaned at the conclusion of the work. 

Construction/Partitions 

1. Partitions to be 3 5/8” metal studs with ½ or 5/8” GWB each side.  Metal studs to be a minimum of 22 gauge, 

and spaces 16” o.c.  Standard partitions are to be to the underside of ceiling u.n.o. 

2. All existing partitions to remain are to be restored to finished condition as required to receive new finishes.  

Remove all unused wall-mounted items, protrusions, or equipment. 

3. The following spaces are to have full height partitions to deck with sound attenuation batts: Conference 

Rooms, Restrooms.  If the structure is greater than 15 ft., it is acceptable to extend partitions to 12” above ceiling 

and apply sound batts above ceiling for 2 ft. on either side of the partition. 

4. General Contractor to provide fire-retardant wood blocking or metal angles within partitions where all 

cabinets, counters, millwork, and wall-mounted televisions are to be mounted.   

5. Provide fire-rated partitions to meet UL-U419 at the following spaces: All conference/training or assembly 

rooms over 750 SF, all Tenant demising partitions as required by code. 

- 49 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 17 of 22 

6. Within buildings with no sprinkler system, all file rooms and storage rooms over 100 SF are to be 1-hour fire 

rated.  If the Building has a sprinkler system, the partitions are to meet all requirements of a full height smoke 

partition.   

7. If so indicated on the drawings, provide folding partition system, Panelfold “Moduflex” Model 420 with an 

STC rating of 50 or greater or similar product approved equal in quality and performance.  General Contractor to 

provide all structural bracing and reinforcement necessary for a complete and functional installation.  Panel 

finish to be vinyl selected from manufacturer’s standard finish selections. 

8. The GTA Telecom Room is to have full height partitions to structure above (not rated).  Provide panels of 

4’x8’ fire-rated plywood continuous along two sides of the room, painted to match adjacent partitions.  Provide 

two (2) 4” metal sleeves in partitions above adjacent ceiling height for running low voltage cabling.   

9. Columns within the space are to be fully enclosed in GWB to a depth that allows the installation of outlets or 

Tel/Data devices.  Provide fire-rated enclosure where required by code.   

10. Where a partition abuts a window mullion, provide continuous compressive filler tape between end studs and 

mullion with silicone caulk on either side of partition.  GWB is to be fully finished with casing beads. 

Lighting/Ceilings 

1. Provide at a minimum 2’ x 4’ three-lamp 18-cell parabolic fluorescent fixtures as required to provide 50 foot-

candles of lighting at the desktop (approximately one fixture per 80 SF).  At enclosed rooms or offices less that 

160 ft., assume two fixtures.  The use of T-5, LED or other energy conserving fixtures is encouraged.   

2. Provide motion-sensor light switches at all offices and enclosed rooms.  Replace existing switches as required. 

3. Existing lighting that meets minimum standards may be reused to the fullest extent possible and must be in 

good serviceable condition.  Replace any damaged or dented lenses.  Replace any defective ballasts as necessary.  

T-12 ballasts are not acceptable and must be replaced with T-8 at Landlord cost.   

4. Provide building standard exit signs throughout.  Reuse existing if serviceable and meet code. 

5. Rework existing ceiling tile and grid as required by demotion and new construction. Ceiling tile to match 

existing within the space.  See Note # 12 under “Base Building Requirements” for additional information.   

6. At Training Rooms, double-ballast fluorescent fixtures so that inboard and outboard lamps are switched 

separately.  Switch row of fixtures at the front of the room separate from the balance of the fixtures. 

7. Each Office, Conference Room, Storage Room, and similar enclosed spaces are to be individually switched.  

General open area lighting is to be on banks of relay switch, 3-way controlled at the front and back doors. 

8. For the GRA Telecom Room, drop ceiling, if any, should be removed leaving area open to structure above.  

Structure above, including any finished ceiling should be painted.  Chain mount 2x4 3-lamp 18-cell parabolic 

fixtures within the room.   

9. Provide emergency lighting as required to meet code.  Connect fixtures to Building’s emergency circuit if 

available or provide alternative battery pack fixtures. 

10. At new Restrooms, provide wall-mounted light fixtures over mirrors, allowance $350.00/fixture.   

11. At the end of the job, all lamps within fixtures are to be fully functional and of the same color temperature.  

Replace all lamps not meeting this criteria as required. 

12. Provide one (1) Da-Lite “Boardroom Electrol” electric projection screen (or approved equal in quality and 

function) to be located in the Training Room or Large Conference Room.  Cut and modify ceiling grid as 

required. 

13. Restore ceiling grid to “like-new” condition including removing all marks or damage.  Repaint existing grid 

if discolored with age.  Fill and paint any screw holes. 

14. Reuse existing ceiling tile to the fullest extent possible.  Replace all damaged or discolored tiles with new to 

match existing as required.  The mixing of old and new tiles within one space is not acceptable. 

15. Existing grid is to be straightened and leveled as required.  Replace any damaged or discolored members. 

- 50 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 18 of 22 

Electrical/Tel/Data 

1. At Private Offices, provide three (3) duplex outlets and two (2) tel./data receptacles with junction box and 1” 

rigid conduit and pull string for tel./data.   

2. At each Conference Room, provide three (3) duplex outlets and one junction box with conduit and pull string 

for tele/data.  Provide wall-mounted duplex outlet and data backbox for Tenant’s wall-mounted flat screen 

television. 

3. At the large Conference Room, provide one (1) flush floor power/tele/data unit, Wiremold “RC” Series 

Assembled Unit #RC7ATCBK (black flange & slide covers) for tile or carpeted floors.  At slab on grade 

conditions, provide the equivalent unit.  Cut and restore slab as required for installation. 

4. At each Conference Room with an electric projection screen, provide power and tel./data box above ceiling 

for Tenant provided ceiling mounted projector.   

5. At Training Rooms, provide one (1) quad outlet and one (1) tele/data outlet at the end of each run of training 

tables shown on plan.  At the front of the room, provide two (2) additional duplex outlets and two (2) tel./data 

outlets.   

6. Provide wall mounted power feed and one junction box with 1” rigid conduit and pull string for every 

workstation cluster that backs up to a partition or column.  At “floating” clusters, provide power above ceiling 

for Tenant’s furniture system power poles.  Provide wall or ceiling feed for every six (maximum) workstations.  

Assume Tenant’s workstation electrical system to be 8 wire, 4-circuit.  The General Contractor is responsible for 

hard wired connection of all power poles. 

7. All low-voltage cabling will be provided and installed by Tenant’s vendor.  General Contractor to coordinate 

with Tenant’s vendor for scheduling and appropriate access to the space as required.   

8. At the GTA Telecom Room, provide the following: 

Two (2) dedicated 20-amp receptacle with NEMA twist lock from structure above to feed racks. 

Two (2) dedicated quad outlets. 

One (1) dedicated duplex outlet (for Security Panel). 

Three (3) common duplex outlets. 

Main Grounding Busbar, 12”x4”x1/4”, plated copper. 

9. At each tel./data receptacle, General Contractor to provide backbox within partition with 1” rigid conduit to 

above finished ceiling with pull string.  Replace any existing devices to remain that do not meet these 

requirements.   

10. At Receptionist windows, provide one quad outlet and one tel./data outlet for each window show.  Provide 

one additional duplex outlet and tel./data outlet within the space.  Provide a release button from the Customer 

Service windows to the secured door from waiting to office areas.  See Doors and Hardware for additional 

information. 

11. All file rooms are to have one duplex outlet and one tel./data outlet for every 200 SF of space.   

12. Where vending machines are indicated, provide dedicated duplex outlets. 

13. All restrooms are to have one GFI duplex outlet located at sinks at 44” a.f.f.  Provide one additional duplex 

outlet in multi-fixture restrooms.   

14. Provide general area convenience outlets every 40 ft. minimum. 

15. All copiers are to receive one dedicated duplex outlet and one junction box with conduit and pull string.  

Provide quad receptacles every 4’ o.c. minimum above all counters. 

16. At the Breakroom, provide dedicated outlets for all specified appliances.  Provide dedicated outlet(s) for 

quantity of microwave ovens.  Provide a minimum of two quad outlets above the counter and a minimum of one 

additional convenience duplex within the room.  Provide wall mounted outlet and data backbox for Tenant’s flat-

screen television.   

17. At Waiting, provide two (2) duplex outlets and tel./data outlets and one wall-mounted outlet and data 

backbox for Tenant’s flat screen television.   

- 51 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 19 of 22 

18. Outlets are to be mounted above the millwork in Copy Rooms and Breakrooms. 

19. Provide 2” conduit from Building demark to GTA Telecom Room.  Conduit to be grounded to a # 6 ground 

bar. 

20. Where systems furniture is shown, the General Contractor is responsible for hard wired connection of all 

base feeds and power poles.  Once the panels are installed, the electrician is to return and cut the base feed whips 

to a reasonable length.  All work associated with this is to be included in pricing. 

21. Provide a price for a new electrical panel board within the Tenant’s space if sufficient circuits do not exist in 

the existing panel with spares for the specified electrical load. 

22. All outlets and light switches are to be grey with stainless steel cover plates (If not in conflict with building 

standards).   

23. Existing outlets may remain if not in conflict with other items.  If existing outlets do not match state 

standards, replace as necessary.  Provide blank plates for any existing abandoned tele/data locations that do not 

have plates. 

24. Verify that all existing power outlets to remain are fully functional and repair if necessary. 

NOTE:  See Supplemental Tenant Specifications for additional information. 

HVAC 

1. Existing HVAC units to be reused to the fullest extent possible is less than 5 years old.  If existing units are 

older, provide documentation of an ongoing maintenance contract.   

2. HVAC is to be sufficient to heat/and cool the space per ASHRAE standards and provide a minimum of 1-ton 

of capacity per 300 SF of Tenant area.   

3. Provide adequate thermostatically controlled zones for every 1,000-2,000 SF of space with proper separation 

of interior and exterior zones.  

4. Provide separate HVAC zones for each Training Room and Conference Room that seat 10 or more people.   

5. General Contractor to provide a complete and functional rework of the existing HVAC installation including 

new branch ductwork, and/or additional PIU’s/PLU’s as required.   

6. Provide a complete Test and Balance report of the HVAC system at the end of the job. 

7. At the GTA Telecom Room, provide a separate 1-1 ½” ton unit for 24-hour cooling.   

8. Provide an automatic exhaust system vented to the outside at all restrooms. 

9. Provide lockable covers on all thermostats.   

10. Replace all thermostats greater than 5-years old with new. 

11. Provide “Z” boots at all return duct penetrations of full height acoustical partitions. 

12.  All existing supply and return vents to be reused are to be thoroughly cleaned or replaced with new if 

discolored in relation to ceiling tile and grid.   

Fire Protection 

1. Where sprinkler systems are in place or required, relocate, turn down, or provide new sprinkler heads 

throughout as required to accommodate new layout.  Sprinkler heads are to be located in the center of tiles.  

Sprinkler shop drawings are required for submission to the State Fire Marshal’s office for approval. 

2. Where a fire alarm system is required, the panel is to be in place as a part of the base building.  Provide fire 

alarms and strobes throughout the space as required to meet code.   

3. Provide fire dampers as required at penetrations in fire rated partitions.  Firestop all other penetrations in fire 

rated partitions as required to maintain rating of wall. 

4. Provide a complete and functional emergency system including exit signs, smoke detectors, and emergency 

lighting fixtures as required to meet all State and Local codes. 

5. Provide accredited, 10 lb. fire extinguishers in semi-recessed cabinets, not more than 75’ apart in all open and 

corridor areas. 

- 52 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 20 of 22 

Plumbing/Appliances 

1. At the Breakroom, provide stainless steel ADA accessible single bowl sink and “Danze Amalfi” #D454530, 

Single handle, pull-down faucet. 

2. Include in pricing a new water heater(s) unless it is confirmed that an existing water heater is present, less 

than 5 years old, and in proper working condition. 

3. General Contractor is responsible for ensuring that adequate power is provide, as well as water and drains, 

where applicable if appliances are required by the Tenant. 

4. The General Contractor is responsible for coordinating appliances with millwork and ensuring that adequate 

clearances are provided.   

5. Provide an ADA compliant, dual-height water cooler within the Tenant space, not less than 1 per 100 

occupants or as required by code. 

6. Provide a Janitor Sink and Faucet where indicated on the plans.   

7. Provide water line and hook ups to refrigerator, Tenant’s coffee maker and dishwasher.  Provide cut-off valves 

to all water lines.   

8. At multi-fixture restrooms, provide floor drains at each restroom.   

9. See Restroom/Fixture/Accessories for additional information. 

Millwork 

1. At the Break room, provide plastic laminate clad upper cabinets with doors and two adjustable shelves and 

base cabinets with doors and one adjustable shelf, extent as shown.  Provide one bank of drawers 24” width at 

base cabinet area.  Interior to be melamine. 

2. The Breakroom is to have a fully ADA accessible sink area, 34” high x 36” minimum wide.  Cabinet to be 

open to the floor below with doors with applied toe-kick.  Provide insulation on p-trap below. 

3. At new multi-fixture restrooms, provide plastic laminate lavatory counter with set-in sinks.  Vanity to have 

removable plastic laminate panel to shield drains.  Lavatory counters to be fully handicap accessible and in 

compliance with all ADA clearances.  See Restroom Fixtures/Accessories for additional information. 

4. At Copy/Fax Rooms provide plastic laminate clad base cabinets and upper cabinets with doors and one 

adjustable shelf, extent as shown.  Interior to be melamine. 

5. Where millwork is existing to remain, units are to be thoroughly cleaned.  All missing or malfunctioning 

hardware is to be replaces.  Level and realign all doors and drawer fronts.  Repair/reattach any existing millwork 

with delaminating surfaces.   

NOTE:  See Supplemental Tenant Specifications for additional information. 

Doors and Hardware 

1. All doors are to be a minimum of 3’-0” wide x 7’-0” high and of solid core construction.  Doors may be 

stained or clear veneer finish.  Paint grade doors will also be acceptable.  

2. Existing doors within the space may be reused if meeting minimum standards.  Doors are to be touched-up as 

required to achieve “best possible” appearance.   

3. Doors are to be set in hollow metal frames.  Frames can be welded or knock-down.  

4. Provide ADA compliant lever hardware throughout.  Hardware to meet a minimum standard of ANSI Grade 

II, light commercial.  Existing hardware may be reused if in proper working order.   

5. Finish of door hardware to be US 26D, Satin Chrome or to match existing if reused from within the space. 

6. Provide 20-minute rated doors and hardware at all doors in 1-hour rated partitions or as required by code.  

Provide non-rated doors with closers at all smoke partitions and GTA Telecom Room.   

7. Provide locks at the following spaces: GTA Telecom Room, storage rooms, file rooms, private offices.  At 

single person toilets, provide “privacy function” lockset on doors.   

8. At Breakroom and Multi-Fixture toilets, provide Push/Pull sets and closer on doors.   

- 53 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 21 of 22 

9. If the main entry door is exterior, provide ADA power assist opening unit with activation buttons on the inside 

and outside of the space.  Button to have ADA compliant signage and international handicap accessibility 

symbol. 

10. The Tenant’s vendor will install the security system.  The General Contractor is to provide all infrastructure 

as required.  This shall include a backbox with pull string for card reader and power above ceiling as required.  

At single doors, General Contractor to provide the electric strike within the door frame for connection by the 

Tenant’s security vendor.  At double doors, the security vendor will provide mag locks.  All doors with card 

readers are to be connected to the Building’s fire alarm system to release in the event of an alarm.  See plan for 

card reader locations and quantity.   

Finishes 

1. Unless noted otherwise, provide direct-glue carpet installation with no pad throughout the space.  Provide 

floor prep and/or leveling as required.  Carpet to be commercial grade, level loop, 26-ounce carpet.  Carpet shall 

have permanent stain resistant properties that cannot be removed by commercial cleanings or abrasive wear.  See 

Note 14 under “Base Building Requirements”.   

2. Provide continuous roll 4” high rubber base with pre-formed corners throughout.  Provide straight base at 

carpet and coved base at VCT. 

3. At the Breakroom and Reception Area, provide VCT flooring, Armstrong “Excelon” or approved of equal 

quality.  Tile is to be thoroughly cleaned and waxed at the completion of the job.  Provide for a patterned 

installation of up to three colors of tile.   

4. At the GTA Telecom Room, provide static dissipative tile, Armstrong SDT 12”x12” tile, one color.  Tile to be 

installed and have finish coat per manufacturer’s printed instructions.  

5. Restrooms are to have 12”x24” porcelain tile flooring with corresponding coved tile base.  Provide full-width 

marble thresholds at restrooms.   

6. Provide one coat of primer and two coats (minimum) of finish paint.  Paint finish to be Flat in general areas 

and eggshell in the Breakroom, Restrooms, and Janitor Closet. 

7. Provide FRP Panels at Janitor Sink, 4 ft. high, on all sides surrounding sink. 

8. All door frames are to be painted semi-gloss. 

9. Provide allowance for use of up to 1 accent paints on 20% of the partitions. 

10. Provide allowance for appropriate transition strips for flooring material changes between dissimilar flooring 

materials. 

Restroom Accessories/Fixtures 

1. NOTE:  At existing restroom and toilets to remain are to be fully ADA compliant to current standards.  

If not, they are to be reworked as required and/or accessories installed to meet ADA standards.   

2. NOTE:  At existing restrooms and toilets to remain, all toilet partitions are to be in “like-new 

conditions”, free of marks, chips or occlusions.  All hardware is to be in fully functional order and not lose 

or misaligned.  Replace toilet partition with new if required. 

3. NOTE: The following are intended as a guideline for intent and quality.  Alternate items will be 

considered for use if of equal or superior quality.  

4. Floor-Mounted Toilet:  American Standard “Cadet FlowWise” Elongated Bowl Pressure Assisted 1.1 GPF” 

unit with open front seat and lid.  Provide handicap height model where indicated.  

5. Countertop Sink, American Standard “Cadet Everclean” with faucet holes on 4” centers and American 

Standard “Seva” faucet assembly with single lever and pop-up drain.  See Millwork Notes for lavatory 

countertop.  Provide Lavatory Soap dispenser, Bobrick # 82216 with 6” spout. 

6. Wall Hung Lavatory: American Standard “Lucerne” with faucet holes on 4” centers and 7 American Standard 

“Princeton“ faucet assembly with lever handles and Pop-up drain. 

7. Handicap Grab Bars: Bobrick B-5806 Series, 36” and 42” at handicap toilet. 

8. Recessed Paper Towel/Trash Unit: Bobrick # B-3942 

- 54 -



 

Georgia Department of Human Services – Division of Family and Children Services, 5453 – 2005 South Main Street, Suite 
100, Madison, GA 30752 

Page 22 of 22 

9. Mirror: Bobrick B-165 Stainless Steel Frame Mirror, 24” x 36” 

10. Surface-Mounted Toilet Seat Cover Dispenser: Bobrick #B-4221 at each toilet 

11. Surface-Mounted Toilet Tissue Dispenser: Bobrick # B-4288 

12. Surface-Mounted Sanitary Napkin Disposal: Bobrick # B-254 

13. Recessed Sanitary Napkin Dispenser: Bobrick # B-282 

14. Toilet Partitions: Bobrick # 1042 Designer Series, overhead braced, floor mounted Plastic Laminate Clad 

Toilet Partitions.  Provide standard "Commercial" Type 18-S Hardware.  Provide slide latch and coat hood on 

each stall door. 

 

- 55 -


	Top
	Item1.	May 20, 2021 BOC Meeting Minutes
	5-20-2021 BOC Minutes - Draft

	Item2.	May 2021 Financials
	May 2021 Financials

	Item3.	Redeemer Church childcare conditional use
	staffreport.may.redeemer.cu.

	Item4.	RV text amendment
	staffreport.may.mc.ta.rv

	Item5.	Tennis Court Rehabilitation Change Order
	Item6.	DFACS - Lease Renewal Letter of Intent
	5453 DHS-DFCS (Madison) AL LOI Draft 05.11.21 (002)

	Item7.	County Manager Report
	Item8.	Public Comments on Agenda Items
	Item9.	06012021 Executive
	Bottom

